I. INTRODUCTION 

In a case that involves an issue of substantial public interest where 

automotive repair facilities have a responsibility to properly, completely, 

and safely repair a vehicle before releasing the vehicle to an owner, the 

Court of Appeals, in its opinion, essentially abrogated entire provisions of 

the Automotive Repair Act (ARA), RCW 46.71. 

After a severe collision that was caused by another driver, whereby 

Appellant James Swain's (Swain) fairly new Saturn vehicle was impacted 

on the driver side at the front left wheel, the Respondent, Sureway, Inc. 

(Sureway), performed substantial repairs to the vehicle. According to 

Swain's collision repair expert witness, the vehicle should not have been 

repaired; instead, it should have been deemed a total loss because the cost 

to properly, completely, and safely repair the vehicle would have exceeded 

its fair market value. Documents produced by Sureway show that after it 

obtained a fair market valuation report for the replacement cost of the 

vehicle, Sureway's initial repair estimate for the vehicle was appreciably 

under the replacement cost of the vehicle, however, that amount 

significantly increased as repairs commenced. 

After the collision, a determination was to be made between 

Swain's insurance company and the adverse driver's insurance company 

as to which company would handle the property damage claim and 

whether Swain's vehicle was to be totaled or if it was to be repaired. Until 
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a decision was made as to which insurance company would handle 

Swain's property damage claim and whether the vehicle would be repaired 

or replaced, the vehicle was towed to a salvage yard. Swain intentionally 

retained the keys to his vehicle so that he could be involved in the repair 

decision-making process because he believed that a repair facility would 

need the keys to gain access to the inside of the vehicle, to the trunk, and 

to the engine compartment. 

Thereafter, Swain contacted the Saturn dealership from where he 

purchased the vehicle to inquire about the property damage repair process 

because he lacks knowledge when it comes to vehicle repairs. During the 

foregoing discussion at the Saturn dealership, Swain decided that if his 

vehicle was to be repaired, he would elect to use the collision repair 

facility that the dealership uses for its vehicles because whatever was good 

for the dealership was good for him. 

A period of time afterward, Swain learned that his vehicle had 

been towed from the salvage yard to the Saturn dealership where he 

purchased it, but that the vehicle was subsequently moved to Sureway; 

that Sureway had begun to order parts for it; and that apparently, the 

decision had been made by USAA, the liability insurer, to proceed with 

repairs to his vehicle based upon an estimate for repair prepared by 

Sureway and forwarded to USAA by Sureway. 
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Swain later discovered that Sureway took possession of his vehicle 

for the purpose of repairs by having the dealership "cut" a key for it 

without h~s knowledge or his consent so that the vehicle could be moved 

from the Saturn dealership to Sureway' s place of business, which also 

allowed it to gain access to the inside of the vehicle, to the trunk, and to 

the engine. compartment for purposes of ordering parts and for assessing 

damage. During trial, the owner of Sureway testified that his company has 

engaged in this practice on a number of occasions. 

Although Swain did not agree with the liability insurance 

company's decision to repair his vehicle because he believed that the 

damages to it were too extensive to be safely repaired for the 

transportation of him, his wife, and his two grandchildren, he was 

informed by the liability insurance company that he did not have a say in 

the decision. However, throughout the repair process, Swain continually 

expressed his concerns to Sureway about safety issues related to the 

repairs it was performing to his vehicle. Swain decided that in the interest 

of safety for his family, after the repairs were completed by Sureway, he 

would have a post-repair inspection performed on his vehicle by another 

collision repair facility. 

Two days after picking up his repaired vehicle from Sureway, 

Swain was traveling on the highway at highway speed during morning 

traffic on his way to the post-repair inspection when the driver side of the 
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vehicle at the front left wheel (the exact location that took the bulk of the 

impact from the initial collision) suddenly locked up and the vehicle 

violently bounced four to five times before coming to a stop near a cement 

wall. Swain managed to avoid hitting nearby vehicles, as well as the 

concr~te wall. The vehicle had to be towed to the post-repair inspection. 

Subsequently, Swain's collision repair expert determined that 

Sureway had not completely, properly, and safely repaired Swain's 

vehicle in numerous aspects. With respect to the brakes, Swain's expert 

testified at trial on a more probable than not basis that Sureway failed to 

comply with the manufacturer specifications in regards to installing the 

left front brake caliper; the expert opined on a more probable than not 

basis that the left front brake caliper fell off the wheel because it was not 

torqued to 85 foot pounds, as required by the manufacturer specifications; 

the expert opined on a more probable than not basis that had the left front 

brake caliper bolts been torqued to the manufacturer specifications of 85 

foot pounds, a bolt would not have fallen off, causing the left front wheel 

of Swain's vehicle to lock up, thereby endangering his person. 

Sureway presented no expert testimony at trial to refute Swain's 

expert testimony regarding improper left front brake installation. Instead, 

Sureway argued on cross-examination via its defense counsel that Swain 

could have mitigated his damages regarding the left front brake issue 

because he should have "heard" the bolt fall off and that traveling over 
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"bumpy" roads loosens bolts. 
·' 

In affirming the trial court's dismissal of Swain's claims of 

violations of the Automotive Repair Act and the Consumer Protection Act 

(CPA) against Sureway, as well as Swain's motion for a mistrial after a 

defense witness repeatedly referenced an arbitration proceeding before a 

jury during a trial de novo, the Court of Appeals' opinion conflicts with 

many of this Court's decisions, as discussed below. 

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The Petitioner is James Swain (Swain), the Appellant in the Court 

of Appeals and the Plaintiff in the Pierce County Superior Court 

d. I procee mg. 

III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

Swain seeks review of the unpublished opinion filed by Division I 

of the Court of Appeals on November 2, 2015, and its denial of his motion 

for reconsideration filed on December 1, 2015, affirming the trial court's 

denial of Swain's motion for a mistrial after a defense witness repeatedly 

referenced an arbitration proceeding before the jury on a trial de novo and 

the granting of Respondent Sureway Inc.'s (Sureway) motion for dismissal 

of Swain's claims against it for violations of the Automotive Repair Act 

and the Consumer Protection Act. Swain seeks review of all portions of 

Division I's opinion. 
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A copy of the opinion is included in the Appendix. App. A. A copy 

of the order denying Swain's motion for reconsideration is also included 

in the Appendix. App. B . . 
IV. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

a. Whether an automotive repair facility's failure to repair the 

brakes to a customer's vehicle is an ''unnecessary repair" under the ARA 

when the repairs were not performed consistent with manufacturer 

specifications. 

b. Whether an automotive repair facility that performs an 

''unnecessary repair" to a vehicle under the ARA is an unfair and 

deceptive act or practice for the purpose of applying the CPA. 

c. Whether a customer who has no knowledge of vehicle 

repairs •is required to conduct a full inspection of his or her repaired 

vehicle prior to leaving the repair facility in order to later assert a claim 

under the ARA against the automotive repair facility. 

d. Whether an automotive repair facility's form that purports 

to be a written estimate and authorization for repair complies with the 

ARA when the form does not include a description of the specific repairs 

requested by the customer; the form does not include a choice of 

alternatives specified in the ARA; the form does not clearly and accurately 

record the parts and labor provided by the automotive repair facility; and 

the form expressly states that it is a warehouse receipt. 
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e. Whether a liability insurance company that merely pays for 

the cost of repair to a vehicle under a property damage claim may be 

considered a "customer's designee" under the ARA for purposes of 

compliance with the written estimate and authorization for repair 

requirement when the vehicle owner does not expressly authorize or 

approve of such a designation. 

f. Whether a trial court errs as a matter of law when it fails to 

give effect to the plain language of Mandatory Arbitration Rules ("MAR") 

MAR 7.2(b)(l) and MAR 7.2(b)(2) when it denies a motion for a mistrial 

after a witness repeatedly references an arbitration proceeding before a 

jury during a trial de novo. 

g. Whether on review, an appellate court reviews only those 

issues raised by the parties and considered by the trial court. Alternatively, 

if the appellate court decides to raise a new issue on review, should the 

appellate court request additional briefing from the parties. 

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Swain's vehicle was damaged in a collision caused by another 

driver on December 13,2006. CP 2-4. Based upon a recommendation by 

the Saturn dealership where Swain purchased the vehicle, he elected to 

have it repaired by Sureway. CP 2; RP (III) 37. Swain's vehicle was 

subsequently towed to the Saturn dealership. RP (III) 35. Sureway took 

possession of Swain's vehicle from the dealership by obtaining a copy of a 
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key for it for the purpose of moving the vehicle to Sureway's regular place 

of business. RP (III) 38. Sureway took possession of the vehicle without 

Swain's knowledge or consent. RP (Ill) 38. 

Swain was informed by a representative from USAA that a check 

was in the mail for the cost of repairs. App. A. The USAA representative 

instructed Swain that he needed to take the check to Sureway and sign it 

over to Sureway to pay for the repairs. App. A. While at the repair shop, 

Swain expressed concern over the cost of repairs. App. A. 

Two days after Swain picked up his repaired vehicle from 

Sureway, the wheel to the driver's side of the vehicle suddenly locked up 

while he was traveling on Interstate 5 at highway speed. CP 3; RP (III) 46-

48. The vehicle bounced four to five times. App. A. Swain's vehicle ran 

off the roadway onto the median and came to a stop near a cement wall. 

CP 3; RP (III) 46-48; App. A. 

The vehicle was towed to Stroud's Auto Rebuild, where Swain's 

collision repair expert, Darrell Harber (Harber), determined that the 

vehicle had not been properly and completely repaired by Sureway and 

that the vehicle was not safe as a normal means of transportation. CP 3; 

RP (II) 20-29; RP (III) 49-51. 

On August 27, 2007, Swain filed a complaint in an initial lawsuit 

for personal injury and for property damage against the adverse driver and 

for bad faith, breach of contract, and violations of the CPA against his 
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insurance company, Grange, for refusing to process his property damage 

claim and compelling him to submit the claim to the liability insurer.2 CP 

13-14. On March 21, 2008, the trial court granted Grange's motion for 

summary judgment and dismissed Swain's claims against it. CP 13. 

Thereafter, Swain amended his complaint to add Sureway as a 

party defendant for negligent auto repairs. CP 14. Subsequently, Swain 

and the adverse driver entered into a stipulation to dismiss Swain's claim 

against the adverse driver and his wife. CP 13. The order of dismissal was 

entered on June 1, 2009. CP 13. 

Upon deposition of Robert Merritt3 (Merritt) in the initial action, 

Swain discovered that Sureway did not comply with the written estimate 

and authorization for repairs requirement under the ARA. CP 14. 

Specifically, Sureway did not provide to its customers a written price 

estimate that complied with the ARA prior to providing parts and labor 

and it did not obtain the proper authorization from its customers prior to 

providing parts and labor, also required by the ARA. CP 14. 

Additionally, Sureway was and is required under the ARA to 

accurately record the cost of labor on its repair invoices. CP 14. Sureway 

conceded at the deposition that it did not accurately record labor hours on 

its repair invoices and it did not advise its customers of this fact. CP 14. 

Based upon the admissions against interest by Sureway during the 
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deposition, Swain moved for and was granted a voluntary dismissal in his 

first action against Sureway. CP 14. 

Thereafter, Swain filed the instant action against Sureway alleging 

additional claims. CP 14. In addition to negligent auto repairs, Swain's 

claims against Sureway included violations of the ARA; violations ofthe 

CPA; fraud and intentional misrepresentation; and fraudulent omissions. 

CP 14. 

This matter was subsequently transferred to arbitration; an 

arbitration hearing was held; and the arbitrator ruled in favor of Sureway. 

CP 32-41. Swain timely requested a trial de novo before a jury. CP 32-41. 

The trial de novo was held from May 28, 2014 through June 5, 

2014. CP 27. During the trial, Harber testified on a more probable than not 

basis that Sureway failed to comply with the manufacturer specifications 

with respect to the repair of Swain's vehicle's brake caliper. CP 23; RP 

(III) 6-9. Harber opined on a more probable than not basis that the brake 

caliper fell off the wheel because it was not torqued to 85 foot pounds. CP 

23; RP (III) 6-9. Had the caliper bolts been torqued to manufacturer 

specifications, a bolt would not have fallen off and caused the front wheel 

of Swain's vehicle to lock up, thereby endangering his person. CP 23; RP 

(III) 6-9. 

After Swain rested his case-in-chief on June 2, 2014, Sureway 

moved for judgment as a matter oflaw as to all of Swain's claims. CP 27 
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RP (III) 99. The trial court denied Sureway's motion with respect to 

Swain's claim against Sureway for negligent auto repair. CP 27; RP (III) 

111. The following day, the trial court granted Sureway's motion to 

dismiss the remainder of Swain's claims against Sureway. CP 27. 

On June 4, 2014, during cross-examination of Merritt on behalf of 

Sureway, Merritt repeatedly referenced the arbitration proceeding before 

the jury. CP 27; RP (V) 15, 18. Swain immediately moved for a mistrial 

under the mandatory arbitration rules that prohibit reference or testimony 

about an arbitration proceeding before a jury during a trial de novo. CP 27, 

RP (VI) 4-6. The trial court denied Swain's motion for a mistrial based on 

the court's discretion. CP 27, RP (Vn 6. 

Swain's only surviving claim for negligent auto repairs was 

submitted to the jury on May 27, 2014. CP 27. The jury returned a special 

verdict in favor of Swain in the amount of$1,080.72. CP 27.4 

On June 13, 2014, judgment was entered by the trial court on the 

jury verdict. CP 27. Swain timely appealed the trial court's denial ofhis 

motion for a mistrial and for the trial court's dismissal of his ARA and 

CPA claims against Sureway. CP 65. 

Sureway timely filed a notice of appeal seeking cross review of the 

trial court's ruling on and admission of evidence regarding the testimony 

of Harber about the Automotive Repair Act, about that Statute's 

requirements, and about whether the Statute had been violated. 

11 

4 Thereby improving Swain's position on the trial de novo from the arbitration award. 



On July 9, 2015, the Court of Appeals, Division II, transferred this 

case to the Court of Appeals, Division I. On November 2, 2015, Division I 

affirmed the trial court and on December 1, 2015, Division I denied 

Swain's motion for reconsideration. 

Swain timely files this Petition for Review on December 31, 2015, 

under RAP 18.6 and RAP 13.4. 

VI. ARGUMENT 

A. Division I's opinion essentially abrogates entire provisions of the 
Automotive Repair Act, RCW 46.71, which involves an issue of 
substantial public interest in that it permits vehicles that have been 
improperly, incompletely, and unsafely repaired by automotive repair 
facilities to be released to public roadways without a vehicle owner's 
knowledge of the nature and the extent of the repairs performed to his or 
her vehicle, thereby endangering the safety of passengers in the 
improperly, incompletely, and unsafely repaired vehicle and the safety of 
passengers in vehicles near and around the improperly, incompletely, and 
unsafely repaired vehicle when it travels on public roadways; and its 
opinion in this matter conflicts with the Supreme Court's decision in 
Garth Parberry Equip. Repairs, Inc. v. James, 101 Wn.2d 220, 676 P.2d 
470 (1984). 

The ARA is strictly construed. Garth Parberry Equip. Repairs, 

Inc. v. James, 101 Wn.2d 220 at 224-25; Webb v. Ray, 38 Wn. App. 675, 

678,688 P.2d 534 (1984). In particular, full effect must be given to the 

plain language of the ARA "even where the results sometimes seem harsh 

to the mechanic's interests." Kyle v. Williams, 139 Wn. App. 348, 357, 

161 P.3d 1036 (2007). 
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1. UNNECESSARY REP AIRS 
Unlawful Acts or Practices under RCW 46.71.045(7) 

An "unnecessary repair" under this provision of the ARA is 

charging a customer for a service for which there is no reasonable basis, 

which includes, but is not limited to that the repair is not consistent with 

manufacturer specifications. 

Despite Swain's expert witness's undisputed opinion on a more 

probable than not basis during his trial testimony that Sureway failed to 

comply with the manufacturer specifications in regards to the repair of the 

brake caliper to Swain's vehicle, the trial court and the Court of Appeals 

totally disregarded this issue when it came to dismissing Swain's claim 

under this provision of the ARA against Sureway even when Swain 

pointed this fact out to the Court of Appeals in his motion for 

reconsideration. 

The trial court and the Court of Appeals failed to strictly construe 

the ARA and they failed to give full effect to the plain language of RCW 

46. 71.045(7) "even where the results sometimes seem harsh to the 

mechanic's interests." Kyle v. Williams, 139 Wn. App. 348 at 357. 

2. UNNECESSARY REPAIRS AND CPA 
Matters Vitally Affecting the Public Interest, RCW 
46.71.070 

The ARA has a strong consumer protection component. Kyle v. 

Williams, 139 Wn. App. at 357. RCW 46.71.070 provides in relevant part: 
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The legislature finds that the practices covered by this chapter are 
matters vitally affecting the public interest for the purpose of 
applying the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"), chapter 19.86 
RCW. Violations ofthis chapter are not reasonable in relation to 
the development and preservation ofbusiness. A violation of this 
chapter is an unfair or deceptive act in trade or commerce and an 
unfair method of competition for the purpose of applying the 
Consumer Protection Act, chapter 19.86 RCW (emphasis added). 

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's dismissal of 

Swain's CPA claim against Sureway because it found that the trial court 

did not err in dismissing Swain's ARA claims against Sureway. However, 

the Court of Appeals' reasoning is flawed in that it failed to address a 

fundamental issue Swain raised on review that the trial court failed to 

address: Swain presented the undisputed opinion of his expert witness 

that Sureway failed to comply with the manufacturer specifications in the 

repair of the brake caliper of his vehicle. 

3. CUSTOMER INSPECTION OF REPAIRED VEHICLE 

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals seems to suggest that Swain 

had a duty to conduct a "full inspection of the vehicle prior to leaving the 

shop with the repaired vehicle." App. A at 3. The Court of Appeals also 

notes that Swain accepted "the benefit of the repaired vehicle without 

objection." App. A at 17. 

The Court of Appeals apparently faults Swain for not objecting to 

the repaired vehicle at pick up instead of faulting Sureway for not properly 

and safely repairing the vehicle, which put Swain in danger of serious 
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injury when, as the Court of Appeals recognized in its own opinion, "the 

front end of the vehicle 'locked up.' The car bounced 'four to five times' 

before coming to a stop near a cement wall." App. A at 3. 

As Swain testified at trial, he is not a vehicle mechanic and would 

not know what to look for when picking up his vehicle in terms of repair, 

especially when the repairs were performed to the frame and other parts 

that are concealed by body panels, which is why he scheduled a post-

repair inspection for the vehicle in the first place. He certainly objected to

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