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

Swain's counsel, and in response to a series of confusing questions, Mr. 

Merritt inadvertently twice uttered the word "arbitration." RP (Vol. 5) at 

pp. 15, 18; VRP (Vol. 6) at p. 5, lines 7-23. 

Q Now, your attorney asked you if you were notified 
of any repair issues to Mr. Swain's vehicle before 
suit was filed. Do you recall that? 

A I'm not remembering that, no. It's been awhile. 
Q If I give you a document to refresh your memory, 

would that be helpful? 
A Yes. 

MS. BULLIS: I am going to hand Mr. Merritt his 
deposition testimony. 

BY MS. BULLIS: 

Q I am going to Page 53 and 54. I am going to Line 
Item No. 15. 

Q Did you read it? 
A Just so I understand it, this is a deposition? So this 

would have been the first time that I was called in to 
give testimony? Is this an -was this our arbitration? 
Was - is this something different? 

VRP (Vol. 5) at p. 14, line 11- p. 15, line 13. 

Q Do you recall a time when the first lawsuit was 
dismissed against Sureway? 

A It's always been a little confusing to me. All right. 
Q Metoo. 
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A It's taken quite a few years to quite get a grasp or 
get my head around the whole thing. But- I'm not 
that good with the legal process, so I am going to 
have to say I am not qualified to answer that. 

Q If I said the lawsuit was dismissed- the first lawsuit 
was dismissed in December 2009, would you 
disagree with that? 

[A] Well, my mind's wanting to know what was 
dismissed. What was on the table? I do remember 
there was a lawsuit dismissed. When, where, the 
terms, I don't know that. 

BY MS. BULLIS: 

Q And do you recall that there was a second lawsuit 
filed against Sureway two months later; is that right? 

A Yeah. Yeah. 
Q And that lawsuit, without going into the claims, 

contained additional claims; is that right? 
A Okay. That's where it gets confusing. And then 

again, what you are calling a lawsuit, okay, I just 
remember a deposition and an arbitration. 

VRP (Vol. 5) a p. 17, line 2 - p. 18, line 3. Swain later moved for a 

mistrial pursuant to MAR 7.2. After hearing from Swain's counsel, the 

trial court thoroughly explained the reasoning behind its decision to deny 

Swain's motion: 

THE COURT: ... The motion is denied. It appeared to me 
that Mr. Merritt was confused about previous proceedings, 
that is to say a lawsuit versus an arbitration, what claims 
were filed and when, what claim or claims were dismissed 
and when, whether his deposition pertained to an 
arbitration proceeding or a lawsuit. 

My observation was that he was confused. And his 
comment regarding an arbitration was in the context of 
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expressing his confusion. He was confused by the questions 
posed by [Swain]'s counsel during cross-examination. So 
in the Court's view, the statement about an arbitration 
was not intended in any way, shape or form by 
[Sureway] to deliberately introduce the subject of 
arbitration in front of a jury in an effort to poison this 
trial in any way. I am confident it was inadvertent. I am 
confident that there is little, if any, prejudice to 
[Swain]'s case. 

I believe that if there is any prejudice to the introduction of 
testimony about previous proceedings, that there would be 
more prejudice to [Swain]'s case for the jury to know, as 
they have been told through counsel -through [Swain]' s 
counsel's questioning that there was a lawsuit once filed 
and then subsequently dismissed to the extent that there is 
any prejudice to [Swain]'s case from that. I don't think 
there would be much prejudice. I think that there is a 
greater level of prejudice than the mention of an arbitration. 

In any event, I see this as elicited by [Swain]'s counsel, 
and, again, inadvertently mentioned by Mr. Merritt. I 
do not see this as the sort of problem or error that 
would require a mistrial to be ordered. I am declining to 
order that. 

VRP (Vol. 6) at p. 5, line 7- p. 6, line 14 (emphasis added). 

THE COURT: ... And the Court has considered all 
circumstances here. I have made a record of what my 
observations were, so that if an appellate court reviews this 
trial record, they will have the benefit of this Judge's 
observations of what occurred. In the exercise of my 
discretion, I am denying the motion for mistrial. 

VRP (Vol. 6) at p. 7, line 20- p.8, line 3. 
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At the end of trial, the jury returned a special verdict in favor of 

Swain in the amount of$1,080. 72. CP 27. 1 Swain timely appealed the 

trial court's denial of his motion for mistrial and for the trial court's 

dismissal ofhis ARA and CPA claims against Sureway.2 CP 65. 

The Court of Appeals, Division II transferred the case to the Court 

of Appeals, Division I on July 9, 2015. On November 2, 2015, the Court 

of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decisions, and it denied Swain's 

Motion for Reconsideration on December 1, 2015. On December 31, 

2015, Swain filed a Petition for Review. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

4.1 The Court of Appeals' Opinion Does Not Abrogate the ARA, Is 
Not In Conflict with Garth Parberry Equip. Repairs, Inc. v. 
James, 101 Wn.2d 220, 676 P.2d 470 (1984), and Does Not 
Violate the CPA. 

A. Sureway Did Not Perform An "Unnecessary Repair" Under the 
ARA. 

In his Petition for Review, Swain contends that the Court of 

Appeals erred when affirming the trial court's dismissal of his claims 

1 Because Sureway made an offer of judgment in December 2010 in the amount of 
$18,649.98 that was not accepted by Swain, Sureway was deemed the prevailing party for 
purposes of an award of costs. CP 27. Therefore, the trial court entered a judgment in 
favor of Swain for $880.72, to reflect a $200 offset for Sureway's statutory attorney fees. 
CP27. 
2 Sureway also filed a notice of appeal seeking cross review of the trial court's ruling on 
and admission of evidence regarding the testimony of expert witness Mike Harber about 
the Automotive Repair Act, its requirements, and whether it had been violated. However, 
the admission of Mr. Harber's testimony is no longer an issue on review. 
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relating to the ARA because Sureway charged him for an "unnecessary 

repair". There was no evidence of an unnecessary repair in Swain's case-

in-chief. "Unnecessary repairs" means those for which there is no 

reasonable basis for performing the service. RCW 46.71.045(7). 

A reasonable basis includes, but is not limited to: (a) That 
the repair service is consistent with specifications 
established by law or the manufacturer of the motor 
vehicle, component, or part; (b) that the repair is in 
accordance with accepted industry standards; or (c) that the 
repair was performed at the specific request of the 
customer. 

ld. Swain did not produce evidence that Sureway repaired the caliper bolt 

(or any other part) without a reasonable basis. 

Instead, Swain asks this Court to create new law by holding that an 

unnecessary repair also includes a repair for which there is a reasonable 

basis but was negligently performed. His expert testified that Sureway 

negligently made the repairs: 

Q Do you have an opinion as to why this caliper fell 
off? 

A Well, this seems obvious to me is [sic] that it was 
never tightened properly. It was probably-more 
than likely, it was finger tight. And somebody was 
in the process of completing their operation, got 
distracted, and never put the right tool - the torque 
wrench in what would have needed to be used on 
this caliper in order to torque it to the specifications· 
by the manufacturer. And if that was done, it would 
have never loosened up, bumpy road or no bumpy 
road. 
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VRP (Vol. 3) at p. 6, lines 16-25. In fact, Mr. Harber never disputed the 

necessity of the repairs, but instead the quality of workmanship of the 

reprurs. 

Sureway's alleged failure to take the proper care in installing and 

torqueing the caliper does not amount to an "unnecessary repair." It 

would amount to negligence (the claim that did go to the jury). The trial 

court agreed: 

The other assertion under the act made by the Plaintiff is 
under 46.71.045, Subsection 7 that unnecessary repairs 
were made. It wasn't a reasonable basis for what occurred 
here, that it wasn't done in accordance with manufacturer's 
specifications, and that the representation was that it would 
be. That, from the Court's view, is encompassed within and 
covered by the negligent repair claim in this case. 

Sureway certainly had a reasonable basis to act as they did 
in this instance, intending and representing that they would 
repair it in accordance with specifications and in 
accordance with industry standards. The fact that it's been 
alleged, and potentially proven satisfactorily to the jury, we 
will wait to see on that, that they didn't repair it 
satisfactorily. Again, that's a question under the negligent 
repair claim. 

VRP (Vol. 4) at p. 7-8. In its affirmation, the Court of Appeals 

acknowledged that the trial "court correctly ruled that proof of a negligent 

repair does not constitute proof of an unnecessary repairs, within the 

meaning of the ARA." App. at 18, n. 7. 

B. Sureway's Written Estimate and Authorization for Repair 
Complied with the ARA; USAA Was Swain's Designee for 

10 



Purposes of the ARA. 

Swain next contends that Sureway violated ARA when it did not 

provide him with a written estimate or obtain his oral authorization before 

beginning repairs. It is undisputed that Sureway did not provide a written 

price estimate directly to Swain. However, the problem with Swain's 

contention is that Swain does not acknowledge that Sureway was entitled 

to view USAA and Swain as being in an agency relationship. Swain does 

not deny that USAA received a written estimate. He denies that USAA 

was acting as his agent. 

The relevant provisions of the ARA that Swain alleged Sure way 

violated provide, in pertinent part, as follows: 

[A] repair facility prior to providing parts or labor shall 
provide the customer or the customer's designee with a 
written price estimate of the total cost of the repair, 
including parts and labor, or where collision repair is 
involved, aftermarket body parts of nonoriginal equipment 
manufacturer body parts, if applicable. 

RCW 46.71.025(1). 

A written estimate shall not be required when the 
customer's motor vehicle or component has been brought 
to an automotive repair facility's regular place of business 
without face-to-face contact between the customer and the 
repair facility. Face-to-face contact means actual in-person 
discussion between the customer or his or her designee and 
the agent or employee of the automotive repair facility 
authorized to intake vehicles or components. However, 
prior to providing parts and labor, the repair facility must 
obtain either the oral or written authorization of the 
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customer or the customer's designee .... 

RCW 46.71.025(3) (emphasis added). 

The court's decision in Bill McCurley Chevrolet, Inc. v. Rutz, 61 

Wn. App. 53, 808 P.2d 1167 (1991) is instructive. In McCurley, the court 

held that the automobile insurer had apparent authority to act as the agent 

for the car owner: 

A principal may be liable because of the apparent or 
ostensible authority of its agent. Apparent authority can 
only be inferred from the acts of the principal, not from the 
acts of the agent, and there must be evidence the principal 
had knowledge of the agent's acts. Apparent authority 
exists when, although authority is not actually granted, 
the principal knowingly permits the agent to perform 
certain acts, or where be holds him out as possessing 
certain authority .•.• 

Facts and circumstances are sufficient to establish apparent 
authority only when a person exercising ordinary prudence, 
acting in good faith and conversant with business practices 
and customs, would be misled thereby, and such person has 
given due regard to such other circumstances as would 
cause a person of ordinary prudence to make further 
inquiry. 

Even if an agent acts without the principal's authority, 
the principal may nevertheless ratify the agent's act by 
acting with full knowledge of the act, accepting the 
benefits of the act or intentionally assuming the 
obligation imposed without inquiry. 

Although the question of an agency relationship is 
generally one of fact, when the facts are not disputed and 
susceptible of only one interpretation, the relationship 
becomes a question of law. 
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ld. at 56-57 (internal quotations and citations omitted; emphasis added). 

The trial court also considered McCurley when considering whether 

USAA was Swain's designee under the ARA: 

The Automotive Repair Act violation claim, the Court is 
finding, as a matter oflaw, that USAA was Mr. Swain's 
agent for this transaction. Sureway's delivery of an 
estimate to USAA that- the evidence shows me, as it has 
been produced thus far in court, that this estimate delivered 
to USAA was fully compliant with the ARA, therefore 
complying with the Automotive Repair Act. The McCurley 
Chevrolet vs. Rutz case, I think, is significant here. That's 
at 61 Wn. App. Page 53, a 1991 decision. It's significant to 
the Court, instructive to the Court because it's very close 
factually. 

In the McCurley case, an insurance company was given an 
estimate by the repair shop. They were paying for repairs. 
There was no objection noted by the car owner, the 
consumer. The car owner accepted a check from the 
insurance company, again, without objection to the 
estimate that had been provided. There it was held that in 
looking at those facts that the insurance company was the 
car owner's agent And the company's acceptance of the 
estimate complied with the Automotive Repair Act. 

In the present case, despite Mr. Swain's strong skepticism 
of whether or not Sureway could repair his automobile to 
the same condition it was before the accident, despite that 
skepticism, he signed over the check. And despite the fact 
he had a conversation that was frustrating with a USAA 
representative feeling like he didn't have a choice in the 
matter, in terms ofhis dealing with Sureway, he authorized 
these repairs. I find, as a matter of law, USAA was acting 
as Mr. Swain's agent or designee in this particular case .... 

It seems to me that the legislature wrote this subsection 
with this sort of a situation in mind: where an automobile is 
delivered to a repair shop and there's no face-to-face 
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contact between the car owner and the repair person. In that 
situation, there is no estimate required to be delivered 
directly to the consumer when there's this lack of face-to
face contact, so long as the work, before it's performed, is 
only performed after an authorization by the consumer. 
And there was no need for an estimate as particularly 
described in the Automotive Repair Act. It did not have to 
be delivered directly to Mr. Swain. It was delivered to his 
agent. ... I cannot see sufficient evidence of an Automotive 
Repair Act claim violation in this case to go to the jury. 

VRP (Vol. 4) at pp. 5-6. 

Additionally, even assuming USAA did not have the authority to 

act as Swain's agent, Swain acceptance of the benefit of the repairs to his 

car without making any objection to the fact that Sureway was performing 

the repairs was ratification ofUSAA's and Sureway's performance.3 

C. The Court of Appeals' Decision Is Not Inconsistent 
with Garth Parberry Equip. Repairs. Inc. v. James, 101 
Wn.2d 220.676 P.2d 470 (1984). 

Swain cites Garth Parberry Equip. Repairs, Inc. v. James, 

101 Wn.2d 220, 676 P.2d 470 (1984) for the black letter law that 

the ARA must be strictly construed. The lower courts' refusal to 

create new law by holding that a negligent repair violates the ARA, 

3 Swain takes issue with the fact that the Court of Appeals notes that he picked his car up 
without objection. Swain argues that the court is faulting him for not completing an 
inspection of his car at pickup. Swain misreads the opinion. The court did not take issue 
with the fact that Swain did not complete an inspection and object to the quality of the 
repairs. Instead, in its discussion on whether there was an agency relationship between 
Swain and Sureway, the court notes that Swain did not object to the fact that Sureway 
performed the repair because this act (or failure to act) is something that Sureway could 
rely on for purposes of agency analysis. 
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or that a repair facility can give the information required under the 

ARA to the vehicle owner's designee is not inconsistent with 

Garth Parberry. 

D. Proof of a Negligent Repair Does Not Violate the CPA. 

In his Petition, Swain argues that the Court of Appeals should not 

have affirmed the dismissal of his CPA claim because of Mr. Harber's 

testimony. Petition at 14. Mr. Harber testified that Sureway negligently 

repaired the car. For the reasons discussed above, any negligence on 

Sureway's part did not violate the ARA, and it follows that any negligence 

did not violate the CPA either. 

4.2 The Court of Appeals Correctly Applied An Abuse of 
Discretion Standard When Considering the Trial Court's 
Decision to Deny Swain's Motion for Mistrial, And Its Decision 
Does Not Conflict with Worthington v. Caldwell, 65 Wn.2d 269, 
396 P.2d 797 (1964). 

Again, Swain asks this Court to create new law by holding that a 

trial's denial of a motion for mistrial for violation of MAR 7 .2(b )( 1) is not 

reviewed on an abuse of discretion but rather that any such violation is per

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